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PRETRIAL ORDER AND NOTICES

THE PARTIES ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED AND ORDERED TO COMPLY WITH THIS 

appropriate monetary or other sanctions upon parties or attorneys who do not comply with this 
Pretrial Order and Notice if the parties or attorneys have not shown good cause for failure to 
comply or a good faith effort to comply.

This document shall control the course of proceedings and may not be amended except by 
the Board through an Order or Notice, by a written request by a party with written consent of all 
the parties (stipulation), or by an order granting a motion filed with the Board.  The use of singular, 
plural, masculine, feminine, and neuter pronouns shall include the others as the context may 
require.

(1) NOTICE TO RESPONDENT(S) OF SECOND AMENDED PROHIBITED 
PRACTICE COMPLAINT, FILED ON OCTOBER 21, 2019

The attached second amended prohibited practice complaint (Complaint) was filed with 
the Board by the above-named Complainant(s) on: October 21, 2019.

PU -
ADMINISTRATIVE RULES (HAR) § 12-42-42: NOTICE HEREBY GIVEN TO 
RESPONDENT(S) that the above-named COMPLAINANT(S) filed a second amended prohibited 
practice Complaint with the Board, a copy of which is attached, alleging that you have engaged in 
or are engaging in prohibited practices in violation of HRS Chapter 89.

YOU ARE DIRECTED to file a written answer to the Complaint within ten (10) days after 
service of the Complaint.  One copy of the answer shall be served on each party, and the original 
with certificate of service on all parties shall be filed with the Board no later than 4:30 p.m. on the 
tenth day after service of the Complaint.  If you fail to timely file and serve an answer, such failure 
shall constitute an admission of the material facts alleged in the Complaint and a waiver of hearing.  
(HAR § 12-42-45(g))

(2) NOTICE OF FILING REQUIREMENTS

1) Electronic Filing:

The Board provides to all parties and encourages the use of an electronic filing service 
through File & ServeXpress.  There is no charge to the parties for use of this electronic filing 
service.

To register, a party is required to complete and submit the Board Agreement to E-File 
(Form HLRB-25), as amended, which is available at http://labor.hawaii.gov/hlrb/forms/.
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Questions regarding the Board’s electronic filing system should be directed to the Board’s 
staff at (808) 586-8616.

2) Filing in Person or by Mail

A party may mail or file in person an original of any document at the Board’s office at 830 
Punchbowl Street, Room 434 office is open on the 
weekdays (excluding state holidays) between 7:45 a.m. to 4:30 p.m.; the office may occasionally 
be closed from 12:00 p.m. to 1:00 p.m.  The date of receipt by the Board shall be deemed the date 
of filing.

3) Filing Requirements Regarding Protection of Social Security Numbers and Personal 
Information

Before a party files or submits any pleading, correspondence, or other document 
(Documents) to the Board, whether electronically or manually, the party shall make certain that all 
social security numbers and personal information are redacted or encrypted.  “Personal information” 
shall include social security numbers, home addresses, dates of birth, bank account numbers, 
medical and health records, and any other information in which a person has a significant privacy 
interest.  To the extent any personal information is relevant to the Board’s consideration of this 
case, the submitting party shall submit the confidential information by means of a Confidential 

amended.

If a party submits a document that requires redaction of a page(s), the party shall by motion 
request permission from the Board to withdraw and replace the original document, in its entirety, 
with a redacted copy of such document, pursuant to HAR § 12-42-8(g)(11), “The Board may 
permit withdrawal of original documents upon submission of properly authenticated copies to 
replace such document.”

The Board may impose appropriate monetary or other sanctions upon parties or attorneys 
who do not comply with this provision where the parties or attorneys have not shown good cause 
for failure to comply or a good faith attempt to comply.

(3) NOTICE OF APPEARANCE AND ACCESSIBILITY OR ACCOMMODATIONS

All parties have the right to appear in person and to be represented by counsel or any other 
authorized person in all Board proceedings.  Auxiliary aids and services are available upon request 
to the parties and representatives with disabilities.  For TTY, dial 711, then ask for (808) 586-8616, 

other accommodation, including language access, please call the Board at (808) 586-8616, at least 
seven (7) days prior to a Board proceeding.
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The parties should be aware that the Board is in
that any party, representative, counsel, or other person attending a proceeding will need to present 
a government-issued identification for entry.

(4) NOTICE OF PRETRIAL CONFERENCE

PURSUANT TO HRS §§ 89-5(i)(4) and (i)(5), and 377-9:

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Board will conduct a Pretrial Conference on the 
date listed below and in the Schedule in this document.

DATE AND TIME: Monday, December 2, 2019 at 10:00 a.m.

LOCATION:

25 Aupuni Street, First Floor, Room 1401

1) Pretrial Statement

Both the Complainant(s) and the Respondent(s) shall file a Pretrial Statement with 
the Board, as listed in the Schedule set forth below.  The Pretrial Statement shall include the 
following:

1. Statement of Issues

2. Witness List

The witness lists shall include, in the interest of judicial economy, a brief but 
meaningful summary of the nature of the testimony expected, and the order in which 
the witnesses are expected to be called upon, subject to the witness’ availability.  The 
summary for each witness shall include sufficient information for the Board to 
determine whether the testimony will be irrelevant, immaterial, or unduly repetitious 
to any other witness testimony; see HRS § 91-10(1).

If a party intends to file a request for a subpoena for a witness, such request shall be 
concurrently filed with the Pretrial Statement, and a notation that a request is being 
made shall be listed in the witness list.

3. Exhibit List

The exhibit lists shall include copies of the proposed exhibits.  The parties are 
encouraged to use the File & ServeXpress eFiling system to file the exhibits before or 
by 4:30 p.m. (HST) on the deadline day.   A party’s exhibits or Joint exhibits shall be 
combined and filed in a searchable portable document format (PDF) not exceeding 10 
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megabytes with each exhibit bookmarked and bates-stamped at the top right corner.  
Alternatively, a party may file exhibits in person or by mail to the Board; the date of 
receipt by the Board shall be deemed the date of filing.

If a party intends to file a request for a subpoena duces tecum for any of its exhibits, 
such request shall be concurrently filed with the Pretrial Statement, and a notation that 
a request is being made shall be listed in the exhibit list.

The Complainant shall identify its exhibits using alphabetical letters (A, B, C, D, etc.).
Union Respondent(s) shall identify its exhibits using numerical designations preceded 
by U (e.g., U-1, U-2, U-3, etc.).  Employer Respondent(s) shall identify its exhibits 
using numerical designations preceded by E (e.g., E-1, E-2, E-3, etc.).  In the event that 
there are multiple Union Respondents or Employer Respondents in a particular case, 
the Board shall specify the designation for each Respondent.

If there are any duplicative exhibits, the parties shall designate them as Joint Exhibits, 
the parties shall designate one party to file these exhibits, and the Exhibits shall be 
marked with numerical designations preceded by J (e.g., J-1, J-2, J-3, etc.).

Additionally, the Exclusive Representative, unless no Exclusive Representative is party to 
the case, in which case the Employer, must submit to the Board the full applicable collective 
bargaining agreement(s), including any Memoranda of Understanding, Memoranda of Agreement, 
or any other supplemental agreement that has any bearing on these proceedings.  These documents 
shall be marked as Board Exhibit 1 or Board Exhibit 1a, 1b, 1c, etc.

2) Pretrial Conference

At the pretrial conference, the Parties shall be prepared to discuss, raise, and present their 
position regarding the presentation of the anticipated evidence (witnesses, exhibits) to be 
introduced at the Hearing on the Merits (HOM), including but not limited to any stipulations, 
evidentiary issues, objections, or confidentiality issues that require protection from public 
disclosure and the narrow tailoring of methods to protect that information (e.g. sealing or 
redaction).

While all parties have the right to appear at the Pretrial Conference in person or 
telephonically and to be represented by counsel or any other authorized person, all parties are 
required to either appear in person or have a representative appear in person. Auxiliary aids 
and services are available upon request to the parties and representatives with disabilities.  For 
TTY, dial 711, then ask for (808) 586-
days prior to a Board proceeding.  For any other accommodation, please call the Board at (808) 
586-8616.
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(5) NOTICE OF THE HEARING ON THE MERITS

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN, pursuant to HRS §§ 377-9, 89-5(i)(3), (4), (5), and 89-14,
and HAR §§ 12-42-46 and 12-42-49 that the Board will conduct an HOM on the instant Complaint 
at the place, time and date listed below and in the Schedule set forth below.  The purpose of the 
HOM is to receive evidence and arguments on whether Respondent(s) committed prohibited 
practices as alleged by Complainant(s).

DATE AND TIME: Monday, December 9, 2019 at 10:00 a.m.
Tuesday, December 10, 2019 at 9:00 a.m.

LOCATION: Island County Council Chambers
Hawai i County Building
25 Aupuni Street, First Floor, Room 1401
Hilo 96720

All parties have the right to appear at the Hearing on the Merits in person and to be 
represented by counsel or any other authorized person.  All parties, representatives, and 
witnesses must appear in person at the hearing on the merits. Auxiliary aids and services are 
available upon request to the parties and representatives with disabilities.  For TTY, dial 711, then 
ask for (808) 586- Labor Relations Board, within seven (7) days prior to a Board 
proceeding.  For any other accommodation, please call the Board at (808) 586-8616.

(6) SCHEDULE OF HEARINGS, CONFERENCES, AND DEADLINES

DATES AND DEADLINES DATE TIME

Dispositive Motion Deadline 11/18/2019

Response to Dispositive Motion Deadline 11/25/2019

Pretrial Statement; Exchange of Exhibits; Subpoena Deadline 11/25/2 019

Pretrial Conference and Hearing on Dispositive Motions 12/2/2019 10:00 a.m.

Hearing on the Merits 12/9/2019
12/10/2019

10:00 a.m.
9:00 a.m.

All submissions shall be filed on or before 4:30 p.m. on the deadline date.
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October 23, 2019 .

LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

MARCUS R. OSHIRO, Chair

SESNITA A.D. MOEPONO, Member

J N. MUSTO, Member

Enclosure: SECOND AMENDED PROHIBITED PRACTICE COMPLAINT

Copies sent to:

Bran N. Keopuhiwa, SRL
John S. Mukai, Deputy Corporation Counsel
Peter L. Trask, Esq.

CASE NO(S). 19-CE-11-930; 19-CU-11-373
ORDER NO. 3571
PRETRIAL ORDER AND NOTICES



Prohibited Practice Complaint (Rev. 4/2017) 
FORM HLRB-4 

STATE OF HAWAII 
HAWAII LABOR RELATIONS BOARD 

FORM HLRB-4 

INSTRUCTIONS.  Submit the original1 of this Complaint to the Hawaii Labor Relations 
Board, 830 Punchbowl Street, Room 434, Honolulu, Hawaii 96813.  If more space is required 
for any item, attach additional sheets, numbering each item accordingly. 

1. The Complainant alleges that the following circumstances exist and requests that the
Hawaii Labor Relations Board proceed pursuant to Hawaii Revised Statutes Sections 89-
13 and 89-14 and its Administrative Rules, to determine whether there has been any
violation of the Hawaii Revised Statutes, Chapter 89.

2. COMPLAINANT  Please select one that describes the Complainant:

q  Public Employee q  Public Employer q  Public Union (public employee organization)

a. Name, address and telephone number.

b. Name, address, e-mail address and telephone number of the principal
representative, if any, to whom correspondence is to be directed.

1 Notwithstanding Board rule 12-42-42(b), the Board only requires the original of the complaint.  

Bran N. Keopuhiwa 
PO Box 271 
Papaikou, HI 96781 
808-217-5656 

Bran N. Keopuhiwa 
PO Box 271 
Papaikou, HI 96781 
keopuhiwb001@hawaii.rr.com 
808-217-5656

✔

PROHIBITED PRACTICE COMPLAINT

              
 

 

 

EFiled:  Oct 19 2019 08:58AM HAST  
Transaction ID 64333945 
Case No. 19-CE-11-930, 19-CU-11-

373 



Prohibited Practice Complaint (Rev. 4/2017b) 
FORM HLRB-4 
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3. RESPONDENT  Please select one that describes the Respondent:

q  Public Employee          q  Public Employer q  Public Union (public employee organization)

a. Name, address and telephone number.

b. Name, address and telephone number of the principal representative, if any, to
whom correspondence is to be directed.

4. Indicate the appropriate bargaining unit(s) of employee(s) involved.

5. ALLEGATIONS
The Complainant alleges that the above-named respondent(s) has (have) engaged in or is (are)
engaging in a prohibited practice or practices within the meaning of the Hawaii Revised
Statutes, Section 89-13. (Specify in detail the particular alleged violation, including the
subsection or subsections of the Hawaii Revised Statutes, Section 89-13, alleged to have been
violated, together with a complete statement of the facts supporting the complaint, including
specific facts as to names, dates, times, and places involved in the acts alleged to be improper.)

Hawaii Fire Fighters Association                           County of Hawaii 
1018 Palm Drive                                                     25 Aupuni Street 
Honolulu, HI 96814                                                Hilo, HI 96720 
808-949-1566                                                          808-961-8211

Hawaii Fire Fighters Association                           County of Hawaii 
1018 Palm Drive                                                     25 Aupuni Street 
Honolulu, HI 96814                                                Hilo, HI 96720 
808-949-1566                                                          808-961-8211

BU - 11 Firefighters

Ammended: 89-13 (a)-It shall be a prohibited practice for a public employer or its 
designated representative to: (1) (4) (7) (8)  
89-13 (b)- It shall be a prohibited practice for a public employee or for an employee 
organization or its designated agent wilfully to: (1) (4) (5)

✔ ✔



Prohibited Practice Complaint (Rev. 4/2017b) 
FORM HLRB-4 

3 

6. Provide a clear and concise statement of any other relevant facts.

   
 
THIS IS A SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT. 
 
  On April 25, 2019 the Hawaii Fire Fighters Association (HFFA) submitted notice to the 
County of Hawaii its Step 3 appeal (aka request for arbitration) regarding a grievance 
that I filed on December 14, 2018 in regards to "placement".  According to the BU 11 
Collective Bargaining Agreement, Section 18. Grievance Procedure. G. Arbitration-  the 
County of Hawaii and HFFA had to attempt to select an arbitrator immediately 
thereafter.  If selection of an arbitrator is not reached within ten (10) working days after 
the notice for arbitration is submitted either party may request the Hawaii Labor 
Relations Board (HLRB) to submit a list of five arbitrators.  Neither the County of 
Hawaii nor the HFFA made any attempt to begin the process nor did they attempt to 
reach an agreement to extend the time limit.  This is a violation of HRS 89-13 (a) (1) (4) 
(7) and (8) by the County of Hawaii and (b) (1) (4) and (5) by the HFFA. 
  This amended complaint contends that this is in retaliation for filing two Violence in the 
Workplace incident reports in May of 2017.  Failing to arbitrate the grievance is the last 
in a long list of currently ongoing acts of punitive acts of intimidation, coercion, 
interference, and discrimination, that date back to 2015. 
  At every level of government in the County of Hawaii and in representation by the 
HFFA, they have been presented with the evidence and chosen to look the other way. 
  Please see the attached documentation to corroborate the long list of violations of 
Hawaii Revised Statutes and County Procedures/Policy committed by the County of 
Hawaii and the Hawaii Fire Fighters Association. 
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STATE OF HAWAII 
HAWAII LABOR RELATIONS BOARD 

DECLARATION IN LIEU OF AFFIDAVIT 
 (If the Complainant is self-represented, then the Complainant must sign this Declaration). 

Please select one: 

o the Complainant

o the Complainant’s principle representative
I, _______________________________________, o  the person described below
do declare under penalty of law that the foregoing is true and correct. 

Date:  _____________________________ 

 _____________________________________________________ 
The person signing above agrees that by signing his or her name in the above space with 
a “/s/ first, middle, last names” is deemed to be treated like an original signature.   

 _____________________________________________________ 
Signor’s  email address 

If you are not the Complainant or listed as the principle representative in #2(b) and you are 
signing above, then please complete the contact information below. 

Your address: 

 __________________________________________________________________

 __________________________________________________________________

 __________________________________________________________________

Your phone number:  _______________________________________________ 

Your relationship to the Complainant: 

_________________________________________________________________ 

If the Complainant or principal representative is registered with File and ServeXpress (FSX), 
then you may proceed to electronically file this complaint. 

If the Complainant or the principal representative is not registered with FSX and would like 
to electronically file this complaint through FSX, then complete the Board Agreement to 
E-File, FORM HLRB-25. (Form HLRB-25 is on the HLRB Website at labor.hawaii.gov/
hlrb/forms.) Email the completed form to the Board at dlir.laborboard@hawaii.gov.

keopuhiwb001@hawaii.rr.com

✔

Bran N. Keopuhiwa

10-19-2019

/s/ Bran Naliko Keopuhiwa



  

 
  This is the second (2nd) amended Complaint.  Please see Case numbers 19-CE-11-930 and 
19-CU-11-373.  In the initial complaint, the allegation that the County of Hawaii violated HRS 89-13 (a) 
It shall be a prohibited practice for an employer to (8) Violate the terms of a collective bargaining 
agreement, was not included, in error.  The first (1st) amended complaint filed on August 1, 2019 
included the above violation. 
  This second amended complaint alleges that the County of Hawaii has violated HRS 89-13 (a) It shall 
be a prohibited practice for a public employer or its designated representative willfully to:   

(1) Interfere, restrain, or coerce any employee in the exercise of any right guaranteed under 
this chapter;  
(4) discriminate against an employee because the employee has signed or filed an affidavit, 
petition, or complaint or given any information or testimony under this chapter, or because the 
employee has informed, joined, or chosen to be represented by any employee organization. 
(7) Refuse or fail to comply with any provision of this chapter; 
(8) Violate the terms of a collective bargaining agreement. 

The County of Hawaii has also violated §377-6  Unfair labor practices of employers.  It shall be an 
unfair labor practice for an employer individually or in concert with others:  

   (6)  To violate the terms of a collective bargaining agreement; 

     (8)  To discharge or otherwise discriminate against an employee because the employee has filed 
charges or given information or testimony under the provisions of this chapter; 

 
  This second amended complaint also alleges that The Hawaii Fire Fighters Association (hereafter 
HFFA) has violated HRS 89-13 (b) It shall be a prohibited practice for a public employee or for an 
employee organization or its designated agent willfully to:   

(1) Interfere, restrain, or coerce any employee in the exercise of any right guaranteed under 
this chapter; 

(4) Refuse or fail to comply with any provision of this chapter; or 
(5) Violate the terms of a collective bargaining agreement. 
 

  Just as the County of Hawaii has committed unfair labor practices, so too has the HFFA, through its 
representative/employee, Captain Charles Spain and President Bobby Lee. 
 
§377-7  Unfair labor practices of employees.  It shall be an unfair labor practice for an employee 
individually or in concert with others: 

     (1)  To coerce or intimidate an employee in the enjoyment of the employee's legal rights, 
including those guaranteed in section 377-4; 

     (2)  To coerce, intimidate, or induce any employer to interfere with any of the employer's 
employees in the enjoyment of their legal rights, including those guaranteed in section 377-4, or to 
engage in any practice with regard to the employer's employees which would constitute an unfair 
labor practice if undertaken by the employer on the employer's own initiative; 

     (3)  To violate the terms of a collective bargaining agreement; 

 
 
  

12
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 The first amended complaint contends that the County of Hawaii and the HFFA violated the BU11 
Collective Bargaining Agreement by not arbitrating in a timely matter (as stipulated by the CBA) two 
grievances (see below) that I brought against punitive disciplinary actions taken by Hawaii County Fire 
Chief Darren Rosario.  The actions that were grieved against were clearly retaliatory. 
  In refusing to arbitrate the grievances in question, the County of Hawaii and the HFFA are conspiring to  
retaliate against me for filing two Violence in the Workplace incident reports in May of 2017 against 
violent actions by HFFA Big Island Representative, Executive Committee Member and Fire Captain 
Charles Spain and Fire Captain Todd Vincent.  The County of Hawaii and the HFFA have violated 
numerous Hawaii Revised Statutes during the grievance process for two grievances I filed on December 
14, 2018 and January 22, 2019. 
  The Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) establishes minimum wage and overtime protections for many 
workers in America, and it is enforced by the Wage and Hour Division of the U.S. Department of 
Labor.  The FLSA also prohibits retaliation against any person who has filed a complaint with the 
Department or an employer (orally or in writing) or cooperated in an FLSA investigation. Protecting 
workers from retaliation and ensuring that they do not face threats or intimidation for exercising their 
rights is an important priority for the Wage and Hour Division. 
  According to the National Labor Relations Board- “Your union has the duty to represent all employees 
- whether members of the union or not-fairly, in good faith, and without discrimination. This duty 
applies to virtually every action that a union may take in dealing with an employer as your representative, 
including collective bargaining, handling grievances, and operating exclusive hiring halls. For example, a 
union which represents you cannot refuse to process a grievance because you have criticized union 
officials or because you are not a member of the union.” 
  The National Labor Relations Act forbids employers from interfering with, restraining, or coercing 
employees in the exercise of rights relating to organizing, forming, joining or assisting a labor 
organization for collective bargaining purposes, or from working together to improve terms and 
conditions of employment, or refraining from any such activity. Similarly, labor organizations may not 
restrain or coerce employees in the exercise of these rights. 

Examples of employer conduct that violates the law: 

 Threatening employees with loss of jobs or benefits if they join or vote for a union or engage 
in protected concerted activity. 

 Threatening to close the plant if employees select a union to represent them. 

 Questioning employees about their union sympathies or activities in circumstances that tend to 
interfere with, restrain or coerce employees in the exercise of their rights under the Act. 

 Promising benefits to employees to discourage their union support. 

 Transferring, laying off, terminating, assigning employees more difficult work tasks, or 
otherwise punishing employees because they engaged in union or protected concerted activity. 

 Transferring, laying off, terminating, assigning employees more difficult work tasks, or 
otherwise punishing employees because they filed unfair labor practice charges or 
participated in an investigation conducted by NLRB. 

Examples of labor organization conduct that violates the law: 

 Threats to employees that they will lose their jobs unless they support the union. 
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 Seeking the suspension, discharge or other punishment of an employee for not being a union 
member even if the employee has paid or offered to pay a lawful initiation fee and periodic fees 
thereafter. 

 Refusing to process a grievance because an employee has criticized union officials or because 
an employee is not a member of the union in states where union security clauses are not 
permitted. 

 Fining employees who have validly resigned from the union for engaging in protected 
concerted activities following their resignation or for crossing an unlawful picket line. 

 Engaging in picket line misconduct, such as threatening, assaulting, or barring non-strikers 
from the employer's premises. 

 Striking over issues unrelated to employment terms and conditions or coercively enmeshing 
neutrals into a labor dispute. 

NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS ACT 

Also cited NLRA or the Act; 29 U.S.C. §§ 151-169 

[Title 29, Chapter 7, Subchapter II, United States Code] 

 UNFAIR LABOR PRACTICES 

 Sec. 8. [§ 158.] (a) [Unfair labor practices by employer] It shall be an unfair labor practice for an 
employer-- 

 (1) to interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of the rights guaranteed in section 
7 [section 157 of this title]; 

 (2) to dominate or interfere with the formation or administration of any labor organization or 
contribute financial or other support to it: Provided, That subject to rules and regulations made and 
published by the Board pursuant to section 6 [section 156 of this title], an employer shall not be 
prohibited from permitting employees to confer with him during working hours without loss of time 
or pay; 

 (3) by discrimination in regard to hire or tenure of employment or any term or condition of 
employment to encourage or discourage membership in any labor organization: Provided, That 
nothing in this Act [subchapter], or in any other statute of the United States, shall preclude an 
employer from making an agreement with a labor organization (not established, maintained, or 
assisted by any action defined in section 8(a) of this Act [in this subsection] as an unfair labor 
practice) to require as a condition of employment membership therein on or after the thirtieth day 
following the beginning of such employment or the effective date of such agreement, whichever is the 
later, (i) if such labor organization is the representative of the employees as provided in section 9(a) 
[section 159(a) of this title], in the appropriate collective-bargaining unit covered by such agreement 
when made, and (ii) unless following an election held as provided in section 9(e) [section 159(e) of 
this title] within one year preceding the effective date of such agreement, the Board shall have 
certified that at least a majority of the employees eligible to vote in such election have voted to 
rescind the authority of such labor organization to make such an agreement: Provided further, That no 
employer shall justify any discrimination against an employee for non-membership in a labor 
organization (A) if he has reasonable grounds for believing that such membership was not available to 
the employee on the same terms and conditions generally applicable to other members, or (B) if he 
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has reasonable grounds for believing that membership was denied or terminated for reasons other 
than the failure of the employee to tender the periodic dues and the initiation fees uniformly required 
as a condition of acquiring or retaining membership; 

 (4) to discharge or otherwise discriminate against an employee because he has filed charges or given 
testimony under this Act [subchapter]; 

 (5) to refuse to bargain collectively with the representatives of his employees, subject to the 
provisions of section 9(a) [section 159(a) of this title]. 

 (b) [Unfair labor practices by labor organization] It shall be an unfair labor practice for a labor 
organization or its agents-- 
(1) to restrain or coerce (A) employees in the exercise of the rights guaranteed in section 7 [section 
157 of this title]: Provided, That this paragraph shall not impair the right of a labor organization to 
prescribe its own rules with respect to the acquisition or retention of membership therein; or (B) an 
employer in the selection of his representatives for the purposes of collective bargaining or the 
adjustment of grievances; 

 (2) to cause or attempt to cause an employer to discriminate against an employee in violation of 
subsection (a)(3) [of subsection (a)(3) of this section] or to discriminate against an employee with 
respect to whom membership in such organization has been denied or terminated on some ground 
other than his failure to tender the periodic dues and the initiation fees uniformly required as a 
condition of acquiring or retaining membership; 

 (3) to refuse to bargain collectively with an employer, provided it is the representative of his 
employees subject to the provisions of section 9(a) [section 159(a) of this title]; 

 (4)(i) to engage in, or to induce or encourage any individual employed by any person engaged in 
commerce or in an industry affecting commerce to engage in, a strike or a refusal in the course of his 
employment to use, manufacture, process, transport, or otherwise handle or work on any goods, 
articles, materials, or commodities or to perform any services; or (ii) to threaten, coerce, or restrain 
any person engaged in commerce or in an industry affecting commerce, where in either case an object 
thereof is- - 

  The argument brought against my complaint(s) by the County of Hawaii, in its various guises, has been 
that I have not exhausted the grievance process.  That process was finally exhausted on August 20, 2019 
when the HFFA sent me notice that it was refusing to arbitrate the grievances.  That decision was made 
by HFFA Executive Board members Bobby Lee and Charles Spain. 
 
HISTORY and VIOLATIONS 
  Until December 2, 2018 I was a Fire Rescue Specialist at Waiakea Fire Station "B" Platoon, in Hilo 
Hawaii.  On November 27, 2018 I received a “Notice of Placement” from Fire Chief Darren Rosario. 
(Exhibit B-1)  Chief Rosario stated in this notice that I was being permanently assigned to Kailua Fire 
Station on “C” Platoon.  Chief Rosario states that “this is not a disciplinary action” even though it is 
clearly a disciplinary act and an act of retaliation, as will be shown below.   
  Beginning with this notice of placement, these are the first violations of HRS 89-13 (a) It shall be a 
prohibited practice for a public employer or its designated representative willfully to:  (1) Interfere, 
restrain, or coerce any employee in the exercise of any right guaranteed under this chapter; (4) Discharge 
or otherwise discriminate against an employee because the employee has signed or filed an affidavit, 
petition, or complaint or given any information or testimony under this chapter, or because the employee 
has informed, joined or chosen to be represented by any employee organization;  (7) Refuse to comply 
with any provision of this chapter;  (8) Violate the terms of a collective bargaining agreement. 
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Notice of Placement  
 In his notice of placement Chief Rosario states that he was made aware of several incidents 
involving myself and Fire Captains Matsuda, Spain, and Vincent.  After submitting a request for 
information on December 24, 2018 (Exhibit B-2) to investigate his claim of “several incidents”, 
Chief Rosario released to me a list of those incidents (Exhibit B-3).   
  Chief Rosario lists first, a letter Dated April 20, 2018 from Captain Matsuda (Exhibit B-4).  In 
using this letter as evidence against me, Chief Rosario violated HRS 89-13 (a) (1) (4) (7) and (8) - 
This letter from Captain Matsuda contains many incidents which were never investigated by fire 
administration.  These incidents were never addressed with me, nor was I given a chance to 
investigate them or refute them, violating my right to due process, which is guaranteed by the 
BU11 CBA section 19, and a violation of Section 16 Discipline- Employees shall not be 
disciplined without just and proper cause.  Because Captain Matsuda is an officer, my immediate 
supervisor and represents management, by authoring this letter the County of Hawaii has violated 
HRS 89-13 (a) (1) (4) (7) and (8).  Captain Matsuda knew that I filed the VIWP reports against 
Captain's Spain and Vincent, and this was his attempt to retaliate against me and restrain/silence 
me.  The incidents that Captain Matsuda lists are fabrications and half-truths, and if he had any 
supervisory training or leadership training, he would have addressed his concerns with me, as 
they arose, instead of keeping a "secret log" of imagined transgressions, to be used as ammunition 
at a later date. 
  Chief Rosario lists second, a failure to follow a directive by Battalion Chief (BC) Kusch 
regarding communicating with Captain Matsuda on December 22, 2017 (Exhibit B-5).  This is 
also a violation of HRS 89-13 (a) (1) (4) (7) and (8) - BC Kusch alleges that I failed to follow a 
directive, but there never was an investigation into his allegations nor were charges ever brought.  
I was never allowed my right to due process, a violation of the BU11 CBA Section 19, and a 
violation of Section 16 Discipline.  As far as I know, these allegations are still in limbo.  
Including this in his reasons for transferring me is baffling.  It is so obviously related to the 
retaliation for the two VIWP reports, and an attempt to silence me, and coerce me to give up my 
rights.   
  The third item on Chief Rosario’s list of incidents is an oral reprimand by Captain Spain 
(HFFA Representative) for not following workplace directives on December 13, 2017 (Exhibit 
B-6).  This reprimand is problematic for both the County of Hawaii and the HFFA, because 
Captain Spain is the Hawaii Island Representative for the HFFA, and an Officer of the Hawaii 
County Fire Department.  This reprimand was allegedly delivered one morning when I showed 
up to work on my regular shift.  Unknown to me Captain Matsuda was running late, and asked 
Captain Spain to stay late.  By showing up to work on my regular shift, Captain Spain told me 
that I had somehow broken the directives that were put in place to keep me and Captain Spain 
from working together.  In doing so Captain Spain violated HRS 89-13 (a) (1) (4) (7) and (8) and 
(b) (1) (4) (5).  Those workplace directives (Exhibit B-7) stated that I could not work with 
Captain Spain.  Those workplace directives are at the heart of the matter.  As far as I know those 
workplace directives are still enforceable, as they have never been rescinded by Fire 
Administration.  Intending to keep space between co-workers, Fire Administration created a 
highly combustible atmosphere.  Because Captain Spain could not work overtime on my regular 
shifts, this limited his opportunities for extra money.  The converse is also true, I could not work 
overtime on Captain Spain’s shifts, but I neither wanted nor needed to work overtime, as I live 
within my means.  A side issue became apparent, when prolonged rescue missions arose.  When 
long search missions or rescue operations become necessary, so does the need for an adequate 
number of personnel.  By limiting who could work with who, and on what terms, Fire 
Administration created a mess, instead of simply fixing the problem, they poured gasoline on it, 
and then lit it up.  The original workplace directives are not available to me, as the County of 
Hawaii has erased much of the evidence from their email server.  A copy of the updated 
workplace parameters (Exhibit B-7) has been provided showing the actions of Fire 
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Administration to be unfair and retaliatory.  That, and the email from Captain Spain to Assistant 
Chief Andrade dated August 22, 2017 (Exhibit B-7.1) are/were a violation of HRS 89-13 (a) (1) 
(4) (7) and (8) and (b) (1) (4) and (5) and show a conspiracy between the County of Hawaii and 
the HFFA. This document is a violation of HRS 89-9 (d) (1) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7).  Captain Spain, 
being the target of a Violence in the Workplace charge, has somehow alluded that I am the 
violent offender, and that his “crew” need protection from me.  I filed a grievance against this 
oral reprimand (Exhibit B-8), and the charge was overturned by Chief Rosario (Exhibit B-9), and 
the charge should have been removed from my personnel file, however, he proceeded to use this 
as evidence against me in his list of “incidents”.  This action is a violation of HRS 89-13 (a) (1) 
(4) (7) and (8) by disciplining me without just and proper cause (Section 16 Discipline, of the 
CBA), and a violation of Section 19 of the CBA by denying me due process, attempting to 
interfere and coerce me from exercising my rights, and retaliating against me for filing the two 
VIWP reports, which is also a violation of the County of Hawaii’s own VIWP policy. 
  Number four on his list is “Inappropriate texting regarding Captain Matsuda on December 28, 
2018” (Exhibit B-10).  This is a violation again of HRS 89-13(a) (1) (4) (7) and (8) by violating 
the BU11 CBA sections 16 and 19.  This allegation was investigated and found to be without 
merit (Exhibit B-11).  The charges were never sustained, and the matter should have been erased.   
Chief Rosario’s intent to retaliate against me for the two VIWP reports, clouds his judgment, and 
his attempts to silence me and coerce me into giving up my rights continued. 
  Number five in his list is an allegation of a failure to follow a directive from BC Kusch dated 
December 13, 2017 (Exhibit B-12).  This charge was overturned via the grievance process 
(Exhibit B-13), by Chief Rosario, and yet he chose to violate HRS 89-13(a) (1) (4) (7) and (8) by 
ignoring the CBA again by disciplining me without just and proper cause and denying me my 
right to due process. He continues to retaliate against me, and this is another attempt to restrain 
me from exercising my rights. 
  Sixth on the list is a letter written by Captain Vincent dated April 22, 2018 (Exhibit B-14).  
This is a violation of HRS 89-13 (a) (1) (4) (7) and (8) and (b) (1) and a violation of HRS 377-7 
(1) and (2) which are unfair labor practices.  
  

This letter is retaliation.  In order to prove retaliation, I need three things:    
1. Participation in a protected act. 
2. An adverse action.  
3. A causal connection. 
 

I filed a Violence in the Workplace report against Captain Vincent’s actions, a protected act.  I 
was transferred, an adverse action.  Captain Vincent states clearly in his letter that he cannot 
work with me because I filed a VIWP report against him, and Chief Rosario submits this in his 
reason for transferring me, showing causal connection.  

  
  Captain Vincent also states that he cannot work with me “because of past actions of deceit, over 
stepping authority and his willingness to stir the pot”, and because I have “demonstrated a lack of 
respect to higher ranking officers”.  Captain Vincent’s allegations, which sound quite serious, 
were never investigated by Fire Administration, a violation of my right to due process and 
Section 16- disciplining me without just and proper cause.  When I addressed this in the 
grievance process, Chief Rosario denied that he was retaliating against me, even though the 
evidence is clear and flat out refused to discuss the matter.  That was yet another violation of 
HRS 89-13 (a) (1) (4) (7) and (8).   
  Seventh on his list is a letter written by Captain Spain dated April 23, 2017 (Exhibit B-15).  
This is a violation of HRS 89-13 (a) (4) and (b) (1) and a violation of HRS 377-7 (1) and (2) 
which are unfair labor practices.  This is also retaliation.  A protected act, an adverse action, and 
causal connection.  Even though he does not list the VIWP incident report, the timing of his 
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allegations so close to Captain Vincent’s, the tone of the letter and the circumstances only point 
to one thing and show a causal connection.   Because Captain Spain is also the HFFA 
representative for the Big Island, this is a violation of HRS 89-13 (b) (1) (4) and (5).  The 
allegations raised by Captain Spain were serious, but never investigated by Fire administration.  
When confronted with this during the grievance, Chief Rosario refused to answer questions, 
violating my right to due process, guaranteed by the CBA, and violating Section 16 Discipline 
also in the CBA.  Those violations also are prohibited by HRS 89-13 (a) (8). 
  Eighth on his list of incidents is the Violence in the Workplace Incident Report that I submitted 
on May 22, 2017 regarding Captain Vincent (Exhibit B-16).  This is a violation of the County of 
Hawaii Violence in the Workplace policy, HRS 89-13 (a) (1) (4) (7) and (8), and the most 
obvious sign of Chief Rosario's intent to retaliate against me.  Again, I took part in a protected 
act, then the adverse action (transfer/placement), and now a causal connection, practically an 
admission of guilt.  This is a violation of the County of Hawaii's own policy on Violence in the 
Workplace and the fact that Chief Rosario submitted this is in his reasoning for transferring me 
shows his intent to use his "management rights" in a punitive manner.  The Director of Human 
Resources William Brilhante Jr., in dismissing my grievance at Step 2 (Exhibit B-17), chose to 
ignore this County policy, even when I brought it to his attention during the Step 2 meeting.  Lee 
Botelho, the Labor Specialist for the Department of Human Resources also ignored this blatant 
act of retaliation (Exhibit B-18).  The Office of the Mayor also chose to ignore this when I filed 
an internal complaint (Exhibit B-19).  In their (Mayors Office) denial it states, that this matter is 
subject to the grievance procedure, however, the CBA does not have a specific section regarding 
retaliation.  The Merit Appeals Board also chose to ignore this fact in dismissing my appeal, 
stating that I had not exhausted my grievance process.  So many violations of HRS 89-13, by 
people in positions of power, who should know better. 
  Ninth on his list of incidents is the Violence in the Workplace Incident Report that I submitted 
on May 22, 2017 regarding Captain Spain's attempt to extort, harass, and intimidate me (Exhibit 
B-20).  Including this is revelatory.  This is another violation of HRS 89-13 (a) (1) (4) (7) and 
(8), and yet another obvious sign of his intent to retaliate against me.  Protected act, adverse 
action, causal connection.  I am not sure if Chief Rosario understands what retaliation is. 
  The tenth and last item on his list of incidents is an allegation that I violated sections 3 and 19 
of the HFD Rules and Regulations submitted by Captain Spain, HFFA representative (Exhibit 
B-21).  This was an attempt by Captains Spain, Vincent and Matsuda to discredit the two VIWP 
reports, and claim that I lied.  This was never proven, and could never be proven, because there 
were multiple witnesses in each incident.  Notice in Captain Spain's memo, that the whole affair 
is based on hearsay, the word of Captain Matsuda (upon whose claims this is based), who is 
already proven to be less than factual (see Exhibit B-4).  The fact that they cooked up this 
investigation is also a violation of HRS 89-13 (a) (1) (4) (7) and (8), they collectively attempted 
to interfere with my right to file a complaint, they discriminated against me for filing a complaint, 
they violated the CBA, and failed to comply with HRS 89-13 (b) (1).  They also violated HRS 
377-7 (1) and (2), collectively and conspiratorially, Captains Spain, Vincent and Matsuda 
attempted to coerce/induce the County of Hawaii to interfere with my legal rights, and it worked!  
Fire administration fell for their ploy, thereby violating HRS 89-13 (a) (1) (4) (7) and (8) (Exhibit 
B-22).  Recently, the County of Hawaii, through EAP, distributed an email which shed some 
light on harassment and the mistakes that management often make (Exhibit B-22.2).  Taking this 
into account, it sheds light on the actions that Chief Rosario, Captain Spain, Captain Vincent, 
Captain Matsuda, Bobby Lee, William Brilhante Jr., Lee Botelho, the Office of the Mayor, and 
the Merit Appeals Board have taken regarding this case.  By allowing their own misconceptions 
and pre-judgement to cloud the issue, they have made numerous compounding errors, making it 
impossible for them to address the issue(s) in accordance with the existing statutes.  That, 
coupled with their inability to admit their error(s) and unwillingness to listen to reason, has led us 
to this point.  
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In this “Notice of Placement”, Chief Rosario states that counseling and mediation did not resolve 
the issues between myself and the three Captains.  Unfortunately, I was never made aware of 
what issues existed, until well into the grievance process, many months after these alleged issues 
should have been addressed with me.   Following the Violence in the Workplace incident reports 
in May of 2017, I was told nothing.  There was no follow up, no explanation, and no closure, 
only secrecy, rumors and speculation.  Mediation was unproductive only because the three 
Captains in question refused to mediate, they showed up and then refused to engage in the 
process.   
  If there were goals to work towards, I was never notified of them.  Chief Rosario’s claim that 
there was no indication that I would be able to work effectively and efficiently with the Captains 
assigned to Waiakea Fire Station cannot be substantiated.  There is no evidence that I was 
ineffective or inefficient or a danger to anyone.  I was never told that I was unsafe, ever.  When 
I addressed this in the Step 1 grievance, Chief Rosario refused to answer, violating HRS 89-13 (a) 
(4) and (8). 
 

 
  I filed a grievance against this “Notice of Placement” on December 14, 2018 (Exhibit B-23)  On 
January 16, 2019 I asked HFFA president Bobby Lee, HFFA representative Colin Wilson, HFFA Big 
Island representatives Richard Fong, and Ivan Higashi exactly which section of the CBA addresses 
retaliation (Exhibit B-24).  I received no response.   
  Believing the BU 11 Collective Bargaining Agreement has no provision to address retaliation, I also 
filed an Internal Complaint (to Chief Rosario) on December 18, 2018 (Exhibit B-25) and another on 
December 28, 2018 (to the Office of the Mayor, Exhibit B-26) alleging retaliation for the VIWP incident 
reports.   
  On December 24, 2018 I submitted an internal transfer request (Exhibit B-27), which was ignored by 
Fire Administration a violation of HRS 89-13(a) (4).  I filed a grievance against this act on January 22, 
2019 (Exhibit B-28) and another Internal Complaint on January 24, 2019 (Exhibit B-29) to address this 
further act of retaliation. 
  The two grievances were both denied/dismissed at both Step 1 and Step 2 (Exhibits B-30) of the 
grievance process.  Those denials are violations of HRS 89-13(a) (1) (4) (7) and (8).  At both Step 1 and 
Step 2, Captain Charles Spain represented the Union (although the Union was not representing me), even 
though he is the subject of a Violence in Workplace report that I filed previously.  His presence there can 
only be described as an attempt to intimidate, interfere, restrain, and coerce me, in retaliation for filing the 
complaint.  I made it clear in each meeting that I was not comfortable with his presence but was over 
ruled by Chief Rosario at Step 1 and William Brilhante Jr. at Step 2.  These decisions perplexed me, 
because in previous grievance hearings, Chief Rosario specifically requested that the Union 
Representative be someone other than Captain Charles Spain (Exhibit B-31).  Yet another violation of 
HRS 89-13 (a) (1) (4) and (b) (1). 
  The Internal Complaints were likewise returned to me first by Chief Rosario (Exhibit B-32) and then by 
the Office of the Mayor (Exhibit B-33), violating HRS 89-13 (a) (4) each time, with the explanation that I 
needed to address the issue through the established grievance process, even though the CBA does not 
specify any way to combat retaliation.  I appealed those decisions, to the Merit Appeals Board (Exhibit 
B-34).  The Merit Appeals Board also dismissed the appeal, on the grounds of “Lack of Jurisdiction” also 
a violation of HRS 89-13 (a) (4).  I am still waiting for the written notice of the dismissal of my appeal 
from the Attorney General and the Merit Appeals Board. 
  Following the denial at Step 2, the HFFA submitted a notice of intent to arbitrate one of the grievances 
on April 25, 2019 (Exhibit B-35).  The CBA directs that the arbitration process begins immediately.  
Neither the County of Hawaii, nor the HFFA made any attempt to arbitrate the grievance in question, nor 
did they come to an agreement to delay the selection of an arbitrator.  This is a violation of HRS 89-13(a) 
(7) by the County of Hawaii, and HRS 89-13(b) (5) by the HFFA (My original prohibited practice 
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complaint). 
  Retaliation is forbidden by the County of Hawaii Violence in the Workplace Policy, by HRS 89-13(a) 
(4), HRS 377-6 (8), and HRS 378-62.  According to the HFFA, there is no mechanism in the CBA to 
address retaliation and the County of Hawaii through the Fire Chief, the Office of the Mayor and the 
Merit Appeals board, refused to admit the retaliation occurred, and in doing so they all violated HRS 
89-13(a)(4) and (7).  
  On August 20, 2019 I received notification from the HFFA that they were in fact, not going to arbitrate 
(Exhibit B-36).  According to the HFFA, they did not see any merit in my grievance(s) and the board 
decided not to seek arbitration.  The board, coincidentally, is comprised of Bobby Lee and Captain 
Charles Spain.  Yet another violation of HRS 89-13 (b) (1) (4) and (5). 
 

JOB PERFORMANCE 

Review of HRS §76-1  Purposes; merit principle.  It is the purpose of this chapter to require each 
jurisdiction to establish and maintain a separately administered civil service system based on the merit 
principle.  The merit principle is the selection of persons based on their fitness and ability for public 
employment and the retention of employees based on their demonstrated appropriate conduct and 
productive performance.  It is also the purpose of this chapter to build a career service in government, 
free from coercive political influences, to render impartial service to the public at all times, according to 
the dictates of ethics and morality and in compliance with all laws. 
     In order to achieve these purposes, it is the declared policy of the State that the human resource 
program within each jurisdiction be administered in accordance with the following: 
     (1)  Equal opportunity for all in compliance with all laws prohibiting discrimination.  No person 

shall be discriminated against in examination, appointment, reinstatement, reemployment, 
promotion, transfer, demotion, or removal, with respect to any position when the 
work may be efficiently performed by the person without hazard or danger to the 
health and safety of the person or others; 

     (2)  Impartial selection of individuals for public service by means of competitive tests which are fair, 
objective, and practical; 

     (3)  Incentives for competent employees within the service, whether financial or promotional 
opportunities and other performance based group and individual awards that encourage 
continuous improvement to achieve superior performance; 

     (4)  Reasonable job security for competent employees and discharge of unnecessary or inefficient 
employees with the right to grieve and appeal personnel actions through the: 

          (A)  Contractual grievance procedure for employees covered by chapter 89; or 
          (B)  Internal complaint procedures and the merit appeals board for employees excluded from 

coverage under chapter 89; 

  I have a spotless employment history from August of 2003 to today.  The following Job Performance 
reports and Performance Appraisal Reports will attest to that (Exhibit B-37).  There are numerous 
missing, these are the only reports that I found in my official personnel file at the Hawaii County Fire 
Department Human Resources office.  Note the reports dated January 15, 2010 filed by Captain Charles 
Spain and August 2, 2017 by Captain Brent Matsuda.  These job performance reports and performance 
assessment reports would counter any claim by Chief Rosario when he states in his Notice of Placement 
that “these measures have not resulted in a change nor have we had any indication that you would be able 
to work effectively and efficiently with captains assigned to the Waiakea Fire Station”.  There is no 
evidence that I am inefficient, hazardous, or dangerous to myself or others, and if there was, Chief 
Rosario, Captain Spain, Captain Vincent or Captain Matsuda would have produced such evidence. 
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SUMMARY and RELIEF SOUGHT 

  The amount of violations committed cannot easily be counted.  The violations were committed at every 
step of the way, by every person, at every level.  The fact that I was not afforded Union representation 
throughout this process is alarming.  Worse than that, the HFFA colluded with the Employer to alienate, 
isolate, intimidate, interfere, and retaliate against me.   As a reminder, the Union chose to send the same 
representative that is the target of my Violence in the Workplace report to intimidate me during the 
grievance process, when his presence was clearly not welcome, nor necessary  
  In summary, the County of Hawaii and the Hawaii Fire Fighters Association have dug themselves into 
such a deep hole that the only way out they can see, is to dig further.  Together, they conspire to wait me 
out, hoping only that I eventually give up.  The commute across the island is literally deadly, a Fire 
Captain was recently killed while commuting to work from Kona to Hilo.  The lost time away from 
family and cost of commuting cannot be justified.  They continue to retaliate against me, and have left 
me with no choice but to take a voluntary demotion.  I am confident that had they listened to reason 
during the grievance process, the internal complaint process, or arbitrated this matter, as they are/were 
obliged to, this would have been settled a long time ago.  As such, I am seeking only that which is 
allowed by HRS 89-14 Prevention of prohibited practices.   
  Any controversy concerning prohibited practices may be submitted to the board in the same manner and 
with the same effect as provided in section 377-9;    
  Chapter 377-9 Prevention of unfair labor practices.  (d) After the final hearing, the board shall 
promptly make and file an order or decision, incorporating findings of fact upon all the issues involved in 
the controversy and the determination of the rights of the parties.  Pending the final determination of the 
controversy the board may, after hearing, make interlocutory orders which may be enforced in the same 
manner as final orders.  Final orders may dismiss the complaint or require the person complained of to 
cease and desist from the unfair practices found to have been committed, suspend the person’s rights, 
immunities, privileges, or remedies granted or afforded by this chapter for not more than one year, and 
require the person to take affirmative action, including reinstatement of employees and make orders in 
favor of employees making them whole, including back pay with interest, costs, and attorneys’ fees.  
Any order may further require the person to make reports from time to time showing the extent to which 
the person has complied with the order.  Furthermore, an employer or employee who willfully or 
repeatedly commits unfair or prohibited practices that interfere with the statutory rights of an employer or 
employees or discriminates against an employer or employees for the exercise of protected conduct shall 
be subject to a civil penalty not to exceed $10,000 for each violation.  In determining the amount of any 
penalty under this section, the board shall consider the gravity of the unfair or prohibited practice and the 
impact of the practice on the charging party, on other persons seeking to exercise rights guaranteed by this 
section, or on public interest. 
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